### RECEIVED H.L.B.

2016 SEP 29 PM 1: 14

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF WASHINGTON RECEIVED

SEP 29 2016

SUPRIFME COURT

COA No. 46400-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

ARTHUR WEST, Appellant, v.

> TESC Respondent

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Arthur West 120 State Ave, NE # 1497 Olympia, Washington 98501

### **

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Arthur West respectfully moves the Court for the relief designated in Part II of this petition.

### II. RELIEF REQUESTED

West respectfully requests review of the decision of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division II, in Case No. 46400-4-II filed August 30, 2016. A copy of the August 30 decision is appended as Appendix II.

The Washington State Supreme Court should accept review, and reverse the Division II opinion as it applies to West's Tort Claim and claim of unlawful investigative seizure under false color of the illegal TESC Trespass Policy.

This case should be remanded with instructions for the Superior Court to conduct further proceedings on West's unreasonable seizure claim.

### III. SUMMARY & WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the following grounds for review of appellate decisions:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by another division of the Court of Appeals; or

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case should be considered under prongs one, two, three and four of this rule. The issue of whether Washington State may employ and strictly construe burdensome pre-claim filing procedures to unfairly deprive litigants of a cause of action when they have substantially complied with the Statute by filing a claim asserting violations of constitutional rights is an issue of substantial public importance that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

In addition, the issue of whether the Courts can expressly deny that investigative detentions can be seizures under the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment, Terry, and Washington State's Const. Art. 1, § 7, which provides: "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law" is an issue of public importance.

The Court of Appeals ruling determined important issues of statewide importance and should be corrected by the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court should also accept review because the Appeals Court ruling below conflicts with previous rulings of the Courts in Niemer, Renner, Gunwall Terry, and Young.

### IV ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Is the Issue of whether the Tort Claim Statute can be applied as an unconstitutional obstacle to access to the Courts under Article 1, section 4 and the 1st Amendment an issue of substantial public importance.
- 2. Is the issue of whether citizens in Washington have an Article 1 section 7 and 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to be free from unlawful seizures in investigative stops under Terry v. Ohio and Gunwall an issue of substantial public importance.
- 3. Does the Appeals Court decision below conflict with prior Appeals Court and Supreme Court rulings concerning access to justice, substantial compliance with tort claim statutes and the right to be free from unreasonable investigatory seizures under Terry v. Ohio and Article 1 & 7?
- 4. Do the right to access to justice free from unconstitutional "gotcha" pre-filing claim statutes under Hall v. Niemer, the right to be free from unlawful investigative seizures under Terry v. Ohio, and the right to access to justice under Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Center present questions under the Constitution of the United States and the laws and Constitution of the State of Washington?
- 5. Do the 1<sup>st</sup> Amendment and Article 1 Section 7 rights to petition for redress free from unconstitutional "gotcha" pre-filing claim statutes recognized in Hall v. Niemer present a question under the Constitution of the United States and the laws and Constitution of the State of Washington?
- 6. Does the right of citizens in Washington to be free from unlawful seizures in investigative stops under Terry v. Ohio and the heightened protections of Article 1, section 7 as established in Gunwall and Young present a

significant question under the Constitution of the United States and the laws and Constitution of the State of Washington?

7. Does the right to petition for redress in regard to unlawful seizures free from burdensome technical obstacles present a question under the 1<sup>st</sup> Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and the laws and Constitution (at Article 1, section 4) of the State of Washington?

### V STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the illegal TESC Trespass Policy that respondent has been knowingly and unlawfully enforcing for well over a quarter of a Century, (See Appendix III) and an unlawful investigatory seizure of West in 2012 made under color of enforcement of this illegal TESC Trespass Policy. (Transcript of December 20 at page 22-25)

Way back in May of 1989, following the filing of a Motion for Summary Judgment in West v. TESC, Thurston County Cause No. 89-2-00696-8, the College allegedly discontinued the illegal practice of illegally seaizing and arresting citizens under color of TESC's illegal, unfiled policy. (See Appendix III, CP 82-89)

However, in 2016 we still see the institution maintaining a Trespass List and illegally excluding members of the public from peaceable and legal access to State land (CP at 20-34) Under such conditions, it is no wonder they have issues with the full disclosure of the details of their enforcement of such a policy.

On May 8, 2014, plaintiff filed the instant action, asserting that he was unreasonably "seized" during an investigatory stop on the TESC Campus pursuant to and under color of the TESC Trespass Policy in an effort to deter him from obtaining public records about the College's illegal exclusion policies. (CP at 4-8)

Over 60 days prior to filing the suit, West filed a tort claim asserting violations of rights protected under 42 USC 1983-5 and 18 USC 241 in connection with an incident where he was arbitrarilly threatened with being placed on the TESC Trespass List and subjected to a criminal investigation by TESC police under color of law.

On December 20, 2013, the Court heard argument on a second Motion for Summary Judgment and a cross motion. During this hearing a prima facia case was presented that West had been unlawfully seized under color of the TESC Trespass Policy during the investigation conducted by TESC police, as was clearly indicated in West's duly filed Tort Claim.

On January 3, 2014, entered a Final Order. (CP at 110-112)

On January 13, the plaintiff made a timely motion for

reconsideration. (CP at 177-180)

On May 16, 2014, the Court abused its discretion by refusing to enter an order denying reconsideration.(CP at 189)

On June 16, 2014, a timely notice of appeal was filed. (CP at 190-199)

On August 30, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued the decision appearing in Appendix II. Significantly, even though the record clearly reflected the proper filing of a tort claim alleging constitutional violations in connection with a criminal investigation by law enforcement under color of the illegal Trespass Policy, the Court of Appeals strictly construed the Tort Claim statute to bar West's claim for an unreasonable investigatory seizure.

The Court of Appeals committed reversible error and violated the equal protection provisions of the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment when it failed to interpret West's duly filed Tort Claim liberally as required by the express terms of Myles v. Clark County, 170 Wn. App. 521, 289 P.3d 650. 2012 and RCW 4.92.100(3), which provides...

With respect to the content of claims under this section and all procedural requirements in this section, this section must be liberally construed so that substantial compliance will be deemed satisfactory.

### VI ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.
- 1. The right to petition for redress free from burdensome technical constraints is an issue of substantial public importance.

The question of whether the 1<sup>st</sup> Amendment and Article 1 section 4 rights to petition for redress may be selectively abridged by pre-filing claim statutes that substantially burden prospective claimants is an issue of substantial and statewide importance that has been previously addressed by both the Legislature and the Courts.

Both the Legislature and the Courts have expressly held that substantial compliance with pre-filing statutes is sufficient. Yet the Court of Appeals in this case failed to evaluate West's tort claim under this standard. In doing so it also refused to recognize the possibility of a claim for an unlawful investigatory seizure.

The facts of this case clearly demonstrate that not only does the TESC maintain an illegal Trespass policy, but it employed it to threaten and seize West unlawfully in an attempt to chill the exercise of constitutional rights protected under 42 USC 1983-5 and 18 USC 241, as alleged in West's Tort Claim.

The Transcript of the hearing of December 20, at pages 22-25, along

with the declarations of John Hurley, Ed Sorger, and the Plaintiff, clearly set forth facts sufficient to establish *at least* a material issue as to wether the appellant was seized, arrested, and unreasonably detained in violation of the 4rth Amendment and Article 1, section 7, under false color of the illegal TESC Trespass Policy.

When West entered onto the campus to inspect TESC records, he was threatened with the application of the TESC Trespass Policy and seized, arrested, detained, and falsely imprisoned for investigation of "Criminal Trespass" pursuant to policies usages and customs of the Evergreen State College. The first, unaltered declaration of John Hurley (CP 52, lines 4-5) attests to the Unlawful policy correctly.

In Bouie v. City of Columbia, South Carolina, 378 U.S. 347 (1964) it was held that, in giving retroactive application to a new construction of a criminal trespass statute to prosecuting two citizens for Trespass, a totalitarian and discriminatory local agency much like TESC deprived petitioners of their right to fair warning of a criminal prohibition, and thus violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The declaration of Officer Monohon attests to an arrest and detention under color of the TESC Trespass Policy (CP 117) Yet despite clear contested facts concerning the unlawful seizure and detention of West

under color of the TESC Trespass Policy, and inconsistent and contradictory testimony from the TESC witnesses, the court wrongfully granted summary judgment to TESC on all issues.

In upholding the ruling of the Superior Court based on a lack of strict compliance with the Tort Claim Statute, the Court of Appeals invidiously abridged West's rights to petition for redress of grievances, as well as his rights to be free from unreasonable seizures and attendant invasions of his privacy without authority of law.

2. The right to be free from unlawful and unreasonable seizures in violation of Article 1, section 7 and the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment and to maintain actions for violation of these rights are issues of substantial public importance.

The question of whether the people of this state have the right to be free from unlawful seizures and violations of their privacy under color of illegal policies in violation of Article 1, section 7 and the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment and the right to access to the courts to petition for redress when these rights are abridged are issues of substantial and statewide importance that have been previously addressed by both the Legislature and the Courts, and this Court should accept review to confirm the existence of these rights.

B. The decision of the Court Appeals is in conflict with the Ruling of the Supreme Court in Hall v. Niemer, 97 Wn.2d 574, 580-81, 649 P.2d 98 (1982) and Renner v. City of Marysville, 165 Wn.2d 1027, 203 P.3d 382 (2009) and the Court of Appeals in

The Appeals Court decision below conflicts with the express intent of RCW 4.92 that it be liberally interpreted to allow substantial compliance, as well as the Supreme Court's consistent rulings that RCW 4.92 be interpreted to allow for its terms to be fulfilled by substantial compliance.

As this Court has held in Hall v. Niemer, 97 Wn.2d 574, 580-81, 649 P.2d 98 (1982)...

...(S)ince the Legislature has made the State and its subdivisions liable in tort "to the same extent as if it [they] were a private person or corporation", RCW 4.92.090, 4.96.010, we will strike down procedural burdens that substantially undermine the possibility of obtaining tort relief.

This is in accord with the manifest intent of the legislature...

...(O)n July 26, 2009, the legislature added a fifth section to former RCW 4.96.020, which reads, "With respect to the content of claims under this section and all procedural requirements in this section, this section must be liberally construed so that substantial compliance will be deemed satisfactory." CP at 39; LAWS OF 2009, ch. 433, \$ 1. The House Bill Report generated during deliberation over the statutory amendments, stated the position in support of the amendments, in part, as follows:

Injured plaintiff's claims are being denied because of the strict

claim filing statutes. The original intent of the statutes was to provide notice so that the government can get the facts of the claim and investigate. They were not meant to be "gotcha" statutes. Some of the procedural requirements are tricky. Cases are being dismissed based on technical interpretations of the statute. The bill is aimed at restoring the original intent. It corrects historical unfairness and makes the statute functional. It requires notice to the government, but eliminates the barnacles of judicial bureaucracy. H.B. REP. on Engrossed Substitute H.B. 1553, at 3, 61st Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2009)

In the present case although the law and the legislative amendments requiring liberal construction and deeming substantial compliance with pre-suit claim filing requirements sufficient are clearly established, the Court of Appeals failed to rule in accord with them, in violation of the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment and the Supremacy Clause.

C. The decision of the Court Appeals is in conflict with the Ruling of the Supreme Courts in Terry v. Ohio, Davis v. Mississippi, and State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d 173, 867 P.2d 593 (1994)

In denying that an investigatory detention could ever constitute a seizure, the Court of Appeals was in conflict with Terry v. Ohio, Davis v. Mississippi, and State v. Young.

Detention for custodial interrogation -- regardless of its label -- intrudes so severely on interests protected by the Fourth Amendment as necessarily to trigger the traditional safeguards against illegal arrest. *Davis* 

v. Mississippi, 394 U.S. 721, (1969).

To argue that the Fourth Amendment does not apply to the investigatory stage is fundamentally to misconceive the purposes of the Fourth Amendment. Investigatory seizures would subject unlimited numbers of innocent persons to the harassment and ignominy incident to involuntary detention. Nothing is more clear than that the Fourth Amendment was meant to prevent wholesale intrusions upon the personal security of our citizenry, whether these intrusions be termed "arrests" or "investigatory detentions."

We made this explicit only last Term, in *Terry v. Ohio*,392 U. S. 1, 392 U. S. 19, (1968), when we rejected "the notions that the Fourth Amendment does not come into play at all as a limitation upon police conduct if the officers stop short of something called a 'technical arrest' or a 'full-blown search.'" Davis, at 394-5

Clearly, an investigative stop can be a seizure, and the Court of Appeals erred in failing to adhere to the clearly established precedent concerning investigatory seizures.

### VII CONCLUSION

Appellant West maintains that his Tort Claim substantially complied with the pre-filing claim statute by fairly alleging a pattern of constitutional violations under color of the TESC Trespass Policy and an investigatory seizure.

This substantial compliance, in combination with his claims and the undisputed record of the incident where he was accosted, threatened with being "Trespassed", and subjected to detention, and a criminal investigation, present legitimate and viable Article 1 section 7 claims under Young and Gunwall, and a legitimate 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment claim under Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, (1968).

The Appellate Court's ruling in this case was, in essence, that the pre-filing claim statute was to be strictly construed to impose a substantial technical burden upon claimants like West to bar their right tp petition for redress, that no "investigation" could ever result in an unlawful seizure and, thus, no claim could be made for a seizure or constitutional violation stemming from an investigatory detention based upon a Tort Claim asserting constitutional violations arising out of a criminal investigation under color of an illegal policy.

The rights of the people to be free from illegal restraints upon their liberty like the TESC Trespass Policy, their rights to petition for redress free

from burdensome constraints and to be free from seizures in violation of Article 1 section 7, (which provides a greater protection that the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment) are issues of substantial and statewide public importance.

The Order of the Court of Appeals ruling otherwise flies in the face of established precedent that Article 1 section 7 provides a greater protection than the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment against unlawful seizures. See Gunwall, 106 Wn. 2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986), State v. Young. 123 Wn.2d 173, 867 P.2d 593 (1994), and fails to conform to the required standard of substantial compliance with the Tort claim statutes. All of this also violates due process, equal protection of law and the right to be free from deprivations of liberty under the 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment

Based on the forgoing arguments, West respectfully requests the Supreme Court accept review of this case because it meets the four criteria under RAP 13.4.

Respectfully submitted this 4th day of September 2014.

ARTHUR WEST