# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 05, 2016, 4:32 pm

# RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93659-5

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES, STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

COLLEEN G. WARREN Senior Counsel WSBA No. 16506 1125 Washington St SE Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 753-6200 OID No. 91035

#

## I. INTRODUCTION

The trial court dismissed Arthur West's tort lawsuit because he failed to file a tort claim that complied with the requirements of RCW 4.92.100-110. West fails to show that the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision affirming that dismissal satisfies any of the criteria for granting review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court should deny West's petition for review.

#### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the Court of Appeals properly affirm the trial court's Order granting summary judgment to The Evergreen State College dismissing West's claim of unlawful arrest and seizure based on his failure to file a tort claim as required by RCW 4.92.100-110?

#### III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Arthur West submitted a public records request to The Evergreen State College (College) in March of 2010. CP 53, 225. The College provided West with an initial installment of records within a few weeks of receiving the request. CP 226. The final installment of records was made available to West for review at a pre-scheduled appointment on May 14, 2010, at the office of the College's president. CP 53, 226.

West reviewed the documents and requested copies of all the records. CP 53. The College's Public Records Officer, Patricia King, proceeded to fulfill the request while West went to the cashier's office to pay for the copies. CP 53-54.

West returned to the president's office and became impatient with the time it was taking to obtain copies of the records. CP 54. He proceeded to enter Ms. King's cubicle, demanding she "get the lead out" as he needed to be at another appointment with an unnamed official. CP 54. Ms. King found West to be extremely hostile and very aggressive. CP 54. She told West she did not have to take his abuse and was working on his request. CP 54. Ms. King asked West three to four times to sit out front until she finished making copies of the records. She eventually reported to Vice President Dr. John Hurley that West was being verbally abusive and threatening. CP 54. Dr. Hurley spoke with West regarding his behavior while his assistant contacted campus police to request that an officer be dispatched to the president's office. CP 51.

Ed Sorger, the College's Chief of Police, arrived at the president's office and spoke with West. CP 113-14. Chief Sorger subsequently spoke with Dr. Hurley who advised that West was being loud, threatening, and abusive toward Ms. King. CP 114. Dr. Hurley wanted West to leave the president's office. CP 114. Campus police officer Monohon responded to the call and also spoke with West. CP 114, 116-17.

While West was still at the president's office, Ms. King was able to complete copying of the documents West had requested. CP 54. After receiving the requested copies, West voluntarily left the president's office, but only after expressing disappointment that the police had not issued a trespass warning to West. CP 114, 117. The College took no further action regarding this incident. CP 52.

West filed a tort claim with the Risk Management Division of the Office of Financial Management alleging that Dr. Hurley and other College officials had "attempted to obstruct [his] access to public records and threatened to "Trespass" him for attempting to obtain records in a reasonable time." CP 98-99. West claimed this was "part of a continuing pattern and policy of invidious violation of [his] rights" in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 241, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and 42 U.S.C. § 1985. CP 99. West's claim stated that "the police did not do anything of their own accord" when they responded to investigate the May 14, 2010 incident. CP 99.

Eventually, West filed a lawsuit seeking penalties and fees for violation of the PRA, and damages for claims of false arrest, false imprisonment, unlawful seizure, and malicious prosecution related to the May 2010 incident. CP 4-8. The superior court granted the College partial summary judgment on West's PRA claims. CP 40-41, 191. On January 3, 2014, the court granted the College summary judgment dismissing his causes of action alleging false arrest, false imprisonment, unlawful seizure, and malicious prosecution related to May 14, 2010. These claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> West's Complaint also sought damages for claims of defamation, false light, negligence, and violation of his civil rights based on a claim of fraud arising out of a separate unrelated incident involving West and two professors at the College. CP 4-8. West's motions for recusal of the trial judge, a continuance of the summary judgment hearing, sanctions against opposing counsel and a cross-motion for summary judgment were denied by the trial court. CP 194. West's petition for review does not raise these claims.

were dismissed based on West's failure to comply with RCW 4.92.100-110. The dismissal of these causes of action is the sole issue West raises in his Petition for Discretionary Review.

## IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the following four limited circumstances where this Court may choose to accept review of a decision by the Court of Appeals.

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

West fails to demonstrate any of these criteria. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision dismissing West's claims for false arrest and unlawful seizure based on noncompliance with the pre-suit filing requirements of RCW 4.92.100-110. The court's decision is consistent with established precedent, raises no constitutional issues, and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

# A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Previous Decisions by This Court and the Court of Appeals

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it conflicts with a prior decision of this Court or of a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Contrary to West's arguments, the Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with previous case law.

Washington's Constitution authorizes the Legislature to "direct by law, in what manner, and in what courts, suits may be brought against the state." Const. art. II, § 26. The Legislature did this in 1961 in waiving the state's sovereign immunity with respect to tort actions and establishing procedures for suing the state. RCW 4.92.090.<sup>2</sup> Among these are the filing requirements provided in RCW 4.92.100 and .110 which require the filing of a tort claim with the Risk Management Division of the State's Office of Financial Management at least 60 days before commencing an action against the State in superior court. The proper remedy for a plaintiff's failure to file a claim as required by these statues is dismissal of the suit. *Hardesty v. Stenchever*, 82 Wn. App 253, 258-59, 917 P.2d 577 (1996).

In order to act in substantial compliance with a tort claim statute, there must be a "bona fide attempt to comply with the law." *Brigham v*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 4.92.090 provides as follows: "The state of Washington, whether acting in its governmental or proprietary capacity, shall be liable for damages arising out of its tortious conduct to the same extent as if it were a private person or corporation."

Seattle, 34 Wn.2d 786, 789, 210 P.2d 144 (1949). In addition, the filing must "actually accomplish its purpose." *Id.* The purpose of the statute is to provide sufficient time to investigate, evaluate, and settle claims before a suit is filed. *See, Medina v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Benton Cty*, 147 Wn.2d 303, 310, 53 P.3d 993 (2002) (construing a similar tort claim filing statute applying to municipalities).

However, a liberal construction rule has no application to a case where a tort claim totally fails to identify the alleged tort or the alleged tortious conduct. As the court stated in *Brigham*, "where there is no attempt to comply with the law, there is nothing to construe. To hold otherwise would abrogate the law." *Brigham*, 34 Wn.2d at 790.

While West filed a tort claim with the State on May 14, 2010, nothing in it suggests he was falsely arrested, seized, or imprisoned by anyone at the College. CP 94-99. He stated in his claim:

As part of a continuing pattern and policy of invidious violation of rights protected under 42 USC 1983-5 and 18 USC 241, TESC Vice president and other officials attempted to obstruct access to public records and threatened to "Trespass" West for attempting to obtain records in a reasonable time. **TESC Police were summoned and conducted an investigation although the police did not do anything of their own accord.** These continuing violations have caused substantial mental and emotional distress.

CP 99 (emphasis added). The tort claim makes no mention of a seizure, arrest, or false imprisonment by the police. West can't argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the requirements of RCW 4.92.100(3) when he entirely failed to comply with the statute prior to filing a lawsuit against the College.

West further claims, without analysis, that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's ruling in *Renner v. City of Marysville*, 168 Wn.2d 540, 230 P.3d 569 (2010) and *Hall v. Niemer*, 97 Wn.2d 574, 649 P.2d 98 (1982). This argument is without merit.

In *Renner*, the court ruled that the plaintiff substantially complied with former RCW 4.96.020(3) in regards to his residential address and statement of damages in a tort claim filed with the City of Marysville. Nothing in *Renner* suggests that a claimant substantially complies when, like West, the tort claim fails to name the tort that is later alleged in the lawsuit. There can be no bona fide attempt to comply where the College has no prior notice that West will file a lawsuit alleging an unlawful arrest or seizure by its campus police.

In *Hall v. Niemer*, the court considered whether the pre-suit notice requirements in statute and city charter were constitutional. *Hall* does not address what is substantial compliance with the claim-filing statute. As

Hall addressed a different issue than the Court of Appeals, there is no conflict that would support discretionary review.

Nothing in *Hall* or *Renner* conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. To the contrary, these cases support the requirement that a plaintiff must file a tort claim with the state as required under RCW 4.92.100 and .110 as a condition precedent to filing a lawsuit seeking damages for tortious conduct.

## B. No Constitutional Question is at Issue in This Case

West argues that this case raises an issue of constitutional concern because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the U.S. Supreme Court's rulings in *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968), *Davis v. Mississippi*, 394 U.S. 721, 89 S. Ct. 1394, 22 L. Ed. 2d 672 (1969), and this Court's ruling in *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 867 P.2d 593 (1994). Pet. at 14-15; *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3). West misreads the Court of Appeals decision in an attempt to create a constitutional question that does not exist.

This argument is premised on West's notion that the Court of
Appeals held that the Fourth Amendment does not apply to an involuntary
detention by a police officer during an investigation. Pet. at 14-15.

However, the Court of Appeals made no such ruling. The court never
reached the merits of West's claim of an unlawful arrest and seizure,

because the court found that West had failed to comply with tort claim filing requirements. This case presents no constitutional question.

# C. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should be Determined by the Supreme Court

Finally, West contends that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest regarding the right to be free from unlawful seizures in violation of article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution and the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Pet. at 12; *See*, RAP 13.4(b)(4). He requests that this court accept review to confirm the existence of the rights. Pet. at 12.

First, West argues the Court of Appeals ruled that the tort filing claim requirements of RCW 4.92.100 were to be strictly construed. Pet. at 10. But the court made no such ruling. Instead, the court found that West had not filed any claim alleging an unlawful arrest and seizure as required by RCW 4.92.110 prior to suing the College. This court long ago held that a plaintiff must comply with the requirements of this statutorily created right to bring an action against the state. *See Coulter v. State*, 93 Wn.2d 205, 608 P.2d 261 (1980) (upholding RCW 4.92.110's requirement of filing a claim with the State as a condition precedent to bringing suit). Dismissal was proper since West failed to file a tort claim alleging tortious conduct by the College's police that complied with RCW 4.92.100-110.

Second, West argues that the evidence before the trial court established disputed issues of material fact as to whether he was unlawfully seized, arrested, and imprisoned by the College's police. Pet. at 10-11. However, the Court of Appeals correctly did not reach this issue given the existence of an independent reason justifying dismissal of West's claim. Reviewing courts may affirm the lower court on any grounds established by the pleadings and supported by the record. Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes, Inc., 147 Wn.2d 751, 766, 58 P.3d 276 (2002). In both the trial court and Court of Appeals, West failed to provide a cogent legal argument supported by relevant authority and citation to the record regarding his claim of false arrest, unlawful seizure, or false imprisonment. When a claim is asserted without argument, citation to the record, and pertinent legal authority, it is without foundation and requires no discussion by the reviewing court. Tran v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 223, 961 P.2d 358 (1998) (arguments unsupported by any authority need not be considered on appeal). The uncontroverted evidence establishes that West was never unlawfully seized, arrested, or imprisoned by the police. Instead, West voluntarily left the president's office but only after he requested to be issued a trespass warning, which the police declined to issue. CP 51-54, 90-91, 113-17.

There is no issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where a case has been dismissed based on the plaintiff's failure to comply with procedure. West's petition for review on this basis should be denied.

# V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the dismissal of West's lawsuit because he failed to file a tort claim that complies with RCW 4.92.100 and .110. Nothing in the decision below conflicts with prior case law, raises a significant constitutional question, or involves an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, discretionary review should be denied.